FILED SID J. WHITE

₿y_

CASE NO. 80,899

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WOOA

JUN 2 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner/Appellant

vs.

LONE STAR INDUSTRIES, INC.

Respondent/Appellee

Initial Brief of Liberty Mutual Insurance Company

On Review To the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida

Of Counsel:

Martha J. Koster, Esq. Lee H. Glickenhaus, Esq. Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C. One Financial Center Boston, MA 02111 (617) 542-6000 Steven E. M. Hartz, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 285935 Akerman, Senterfitt & Eidson, P.A. 801 Brickell Avenue Miami, FL 33131 (305) 374-5600

June 1, 1994

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does this Court's July, 1993 decision in <u>Dimmitt Chevrolet</u>, <u>Inc. v. Southeastern Fidelity Ins. Corp.</u> ("<u>Dimmitt II</u>"), holding that the pollution exclusion has a temporal meaning and is not ambiguous, call for reversal of the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in this case, which was based <u>entirely</u> on the decision reversed in <u>Dimmitt II</u>?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a discretionary review of an appeal from a non-final order granting respondent-appellee Lone Star Industries, Inc. ("Lone Star") partial summary judgment against petitionerappellant Liberty Mutual Insurance Company ("Liberty Mutual"). In its order, which was affirmed by the Third District Court of Appeal ("Third DCA"), the trial court held that Liberty Mutual has a duty under certain comprehensive general liability (CGL) policies to defend Lone Star against actions brought by the Dade County Department of Environmental Resources Management ("DERM"), and others (collectively, the "Miami Wood Actions"). These actions allege that Lone Star caused environmental contamination by its regular release of pollutants in its operation of a wood treatment facility over a number of years. In the order appealed, the lower courts incorrectly ruled that Liberty Mutual must defend Lone Star in these actions despite the pollution exclusion in the policies, which precludes coverage of all pollution harm not caused by sudden and accidental releases. Because it conflicts directly with the decision of this Court, on

rehearing, in <u>Dimmitt Chevrolet, Inc. v. Southeastern Fidelity</u> <u>Ins. Corp.</u>, 1993 Fla. LEXIS 1128, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S400, _____ So. 2d _____ (Fla. 1993) ("<u>Dimmitt II</u>") and because no further proceedings are required, the decision below should be reversed.

PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The complaint in this action, filed on February 9, 1987, in Dade County Circuit Court, sought coverage of the Miami Wood Actions under its policies with Liberty Mutual. Liberty Mutual's answer denied any obligation to defend or indemnify Lone Star, citing, <u>inter alia</u>, the policies' pollution exclusion. On October 8, 1990, the Circuit Court entered Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of Liberty Mutual's duty to defend Lone Star in the DERM suit (the "Clemente Action").^{1/} (App. 2). Liberty Mutual timely filed its notice of appeal on November 6, 1990. (R. 1-3)^{2/}

²⁷The designation "R" refers to the Record forwarded to this Court by the Third DCA.

^{1/} A motion for partial summary judgment was filed by Lone Star on November 4, 1988 on the issue of Liberty Mutual's duty to defend the Clemente Action. On April 24, 1989, the Circuit Court entered an order granting Lone Star's "Motion for Partial Summary Judgment - Duty to Defend" without explanation. (App. 1). [The designation "App. ___ refers to the page number of the Appendix to this brief.] Liberty Mutual's appeal of this order was dismissed as premature.

On September 22, 1992, the Third DCA issued its brief opinion, stating:

Based on the Florida Supreme Court's ruling in <u>Dimmitt Chevrolet</u>, Inc. v. Southeastern <u>Fidelity Ins. Corp.</u>, So. 2d_, (Fla. Case No. 78,293, opinion filed September 3, 1992) [17 FLW S579] that the term "sudden and accidental" as contained in the pollution exclusion clause is ambiguous as a matter of law, we hereby affirm.

(App. 4)

On October 6, 1992, Liberty Mutual moved the Third DCA for rehearing or reconsideration or to certify its decision to this Court (R. 309-313, 314-320). These motions were denied on November 10, 1992. (R. 339-340) On December 8, 1992, Liberty Mutual filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.³⁷ (R. 341-343)

On July 1, 1993, this Court issued a new opinion, on rehearing, in <u>Dimmitt ("Dimmitt II</u>", 18 Fla. L. Weekly S400), reversing this Court's original decision in <u>Dimmitt ("Dimmitt I</u>") and expressly concluding that the pollution exclusion was <u>not</u> ambiguous. <u>Dimmitt II</u> held that pollution which "took place over a period of many years" was not "sudden and accidental". 18 Fla. L. Weekly S408

^{3/}On December 10, 1992, Liberty Mutual filed an amended notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. Liberty Mutual's jurisdictional brief was filed with this Court on December 18, 1992. (R. 351-353) The ground for this notice, as for the motions for rehearing and certification in the Third DCA, were that the Third DCA had misapplied <u>Dimmitt</u> and that, even under that decision, Liberty Mutual did not owe a defense to Lone Star.

Following the issuance of <u>Dimmitt II</u>, Lone Star filed a motion seeking one of three alternatives: that this Court not exercise jurisdiction over the present case, or, if it did accept jurisdiction, that it allow full briefing of the merits, or, relinquish jurisdiction to the Third DCA ^{4/} On April 5, 1994, this Court denied Lone Star's motion in its entirety, thus exercising jurisdiction over this case but not permitting full briefing on the merits or oral argument. The proceedings before this Court therefore are limited solely to the question of whether the Third DCA's decision conflicts with <u>Dimmitt II</u>.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Between 1972 and 1979 Liberty Mutual issued CGL insurance to Lone Star. This insurance specifically <u>excluded</u> coverage for harm arising out of the discharge, dispersal, release or escape of contaminants or pollutants <u>unless</u> the discharge was both "sudden and accidental" or resulted from underground seepage of which Lone Star was unaware. From 1972 until the early 1980's, Lone Star operated a wood treatment facility at 7000 Coral Way in Miami ("the Site"). The Miami Wood Actions alleged that, in the course of daily operations at the Site, pollutants were routinely allowed to drip onto the soil, causing extensive contamination of

^{4/}"Motion For The Entry of an Order Denying Review, or In the Alternative Accepting Jurisdiction, and Permitting a Full Briefing On The Merits and Oral Argument, Or In the Alternative, Accepting Jurisdiction and Relinquishing Jurisdiction to the Third District Court of Appeals With Directions."

the Site and leading DERM and others to file suit against Lone Star.

The <u>Clemente</u> complaint alleged that the releases of contamination at the Site were known, "wanton" and "willful" and "occurred . . . and continue to occur and exist until the present time unabated, unremedied and uncorrected . . . " (Clemente complaint p. 4-5, 8; App. 10, 13). The <u>Clemente</u> complaint did not allege, in form or substance, either sudden and accidental releases or unknown underground seepage. The other complaints against Lone Star contained allegations that the contamination was the result of ongoing operations between 1942 and 1981 (DER suit, ¶15-16, App. 19); that the site was "knowingly" used as a dump for dangerous chemicals (Futura suit ¶19, App. 28) and that the contamination was the "cumulative effort" of "dripping and spilling" since 1941 (Davidson suit ¶12-14, App. 34). Despite the allegations in these complaints of long term, intentional pollution, Liberty Mutual initially provided a defense to Lone Star pending an investigation of the actual circumstances of the pollution. When Liberty Mutual's investigation confirmed that the releases of pollution at the site were gradual and intentional, Liberty Mutual withdrew its defense of Lone Star.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third DCA was based <u>exclusively</u> on the holding of <u>Dimmitt I</u> that the "pollution exclusion" is ambiguous, which conclusion was reversed by this Court in <u>Dimmitt II</u>, which

holds that the pollution exclusion is <u>not</u> ambiguous and bars coverage for harm caused by releases of pollution which are not both "sudden" (rapid, abrupt) and "accidental". The duty to defend is determined by comparing the allegations of the complaint against the insured with the terms of the insurance policy. The complaints against Lone Star alleged that the contamination at the Site was the result of decades of operations, in which Lone Star knowingly discharged pollutants into the soil. Under <u>Dimmitt II</u>, there is no coverage for pollution which is ongoing and expected, and Liberty Mutual has no obligation to defend Lone Star from the Miami Wood Actions because these actions do not allege a "sudden and accidental" release of contamination. Thus, the decision of the Third DCA that Liberty Mutual must defend Lone Star conflicts with <u>Dimmitt II</u> and must be reversed.

Finally, Lone Star's assertions that the underground seepage exception applies conflicts with the plain meaning of the clause. Accordingly, the decision below should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE IT CONFLICTS WITH DIMMITT II.

The Third DCA based its decision in this case <u>solely</u> on the holding of this Court in <u>Dimmitt I</u> that the phrase "sudden and accidental" in the "pollution exclusion" is ambiguous.^{5/} (App. 5) Since <u>Dimmitt I</u> has been reversed precisely on this point, so too must the Third DCA's ruling be reversed.

This Court decided <u>Dimmitt II</u> on July 1, 1993, reversing <u>Dimmitt I</u> and holding that the phrase "sudden and accidental" was <u>not</u> ambiguous and that "sudden" "includes a temporal aspect with a sense of immediacy or abruptness". 18 Fla. L. Weekly S401. On the facts before it, this Court found that the policyholder was not entitled to coverage because the pollution at issue "took place over a period of many years and most of it occurred gradually." 18 Fla. L. Weekly S402. The Court concluded that, because these releases occurred in the course of daily business, they were not, as a matter of law, "sudden and accidental". Id.⁶⁷ On March 31, 1994, this Court denied Appellant's Motion

⁶⁷On March 31, 1994, this Court denied Appellant's Motion for Rehearing and Clarification and the decision in <u>Dimmitt II</u> became final.

⁵⁷Liberty Mutual's original petition to this Court was based upon the Third DCA's misapplication of <u>Dimmitt I</u> to the facts of this case. Because of the allegations of known and gradual releases of pollution against Lone Star in the underlying complaints, even under <u>Dimmitt I</u>, Liberty Mutual owed no defense to Lone Star. The Third DCA's decision was inconsistent with <u>Dimmitt I</u> because the complaints against Lone Star alleged that the releases of pollutants were intentional and, under <u>Dimmitt I</u>, this was sufficient to defeat Lone Star's claim for a defense.

for Rehearing and Clarification and the decision in <u>Dimmitt II</u> became final.

In light of this Court's decision in <u>Dimmitt II</u>, the decision of the Third DCA in the present case must also be reversed. The <u>entire basis</u> of the decision of the Third DCA was the holding of <u>Dimmitt I</u> that the pollution exclusion was ambiguous. The Third DCA expressly held: "based on the Florida Supreme Court's ruling in [<u>Dimmitt I</u>] that the ... pollution exclusion clause is ambiguous as a matter of law, we hereby affirm" (App. 4) With the reversal of <u>Dimmitt I</u>, the rule of law upon which the Third DCA based its decision has been reversed; a corresponding reversal of the decision of the Third DCA in this case is necessary to avoid a conflict with <u>Dimmitt II</u>. <u>Cf.</u>, <u>Cantor v. Davis</u>, 489 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1986); <u>Hendeles v. Sanford</u> <u>Auction, Inc.</u>, 364 So. 2d 467, 468 (Fla. 1978) (Appellate court must apply law in effect at the time of decision).

This Court has exhaustively considered the meaning of the pollution exclusion in <u>Dimmitt</u>. There is no need for this Court to examine further the meaning of this clause. Rather, the present proceedings are confined solely to the question of whether the decision of the Third DCA in this case conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Dimmitt II</u>, and the meaning of the pollution exclusion enunciated in that case.

There is no avoiding the conflict between the Third DCA's decision and <u>Dimmitt II</u>; they are entirely inconsistent. The complaints against Lone Star alleged willful contamination

and pollution over a span of decades. Under <u>Dimmitt II</u>, these actions do not allege a "sudden and accidental" release of contamination. The Third DCA's reliance on <u>Dimmitt I</u>, which has been definitively reversed, cannot stand and must itself be reversed.

II. LIBERTY MUTUAL HAS NO DUTY TO DEFEND LONE STAR BECAUSE THE COMPLAINTS AGAINST LONE STAR DID NOT ALLEGE A "SUDDEN <u>AND</u> <u>ACCIDENTAL</u>" RELEASE.

Under the rule of <u>Dimmitt II</u>, Liberty Mutual has no duty to defend Lone Star. As set out by this Court in <u>Dimmitt II</u>, "sudden" means "abrupt" or "rapid" and is the opposite of "gradual". Because it is clear on the face of the complaints that the Miami Wood Actions do not allege a "sudden and accidental" release (in fact, they allege exactly the opposite), Liberty Mutual has no duty to defend Lone Star from these actions. Thus, the decision of the Third DCA must be reversed and judgment entered for Liberty Mutual.

In order to obligate an insurance carrier to defend its insured, the allegations of the underlying suit against the insured must bring a claim within the scope of coverage provided by the policies. National Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Lenox Liquors, Inc., 358 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1977); Tropical Park, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guar. Co., 357 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Baron Oil Co. v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 470 So. 2d 810, 814 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). If the underlying complaint fails to allege facts which, if established, create coverage within the policy of insurance, the insurer has no duty to defend the action

or pay a judgment obtained therein. <u>Florida Physicians Insurance</u> <u>Co., v. G. W. Lanzenby</u>, 576 So.2d 794 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); <u>Caduceus Self Ins. Fund Inc. v. South Florida Emergency</u> <u>Physicians</u>, 436 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <u>Old Republic Ins.</u> <u>Co. v. West Flagler Associates Ltd.</u>, 419 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); <u>Commercial Union Ins. Co. v. R.H. Barto Co.</u>, 440 So.2d 383 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), <u>rev. den.</u>, 451 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1984).

Under Florida law, where there is an absence of an allegation of an essential element of coverage, a carrier has no duty to defend. In <u>Consolidated Mutual Ins. Co. v. Ivy Liquors.</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 185 So.2d 187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966), the insurance policy at issue provided coverage only for harm caused by "accident". The court in <u>Ivy Liquors</u> found that the carrier did not have a duty to defend its insured when the complaint against the insured <u>did</u> <u>not allege</u> an accident. See also, <u>Ins. Co. of No. America v.</u> <u>Querns</u>, 562 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (no duty to defend complaint which alleged "willful" acts where policy provided coverage only for "accidents"); <u>Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Miller</u>, 550 So. 2d 29 (3d DCA 1989) (no duty to defend complaint which alleged intentional and negligent acts where policy contained exclusion for intentional acts); <u>Fed. Ins. Co. v. Applestein</u>, 377 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) (no duty to defend complaint which

alleged acts done "with malice" and which were "willful" where policy excluded coverage for intentional injury.)^{7/}

The CGL policies at issue each contain a "pollution exclusion" which provides:

It is agreed that the insurance does not apply to any liability arising out of pollution or contamination due to discharge, dispersal, release or escape of smoke, vapors, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, toxic chemicals, liquids or gases, waste materials or other irritants, contaminants or pollutants into or upon land, the atmosphere or any watercourse or body of water; but this exclusion shall not apply if such discharge, dispersal, release or escape is sudden and accidental or results from an underground seepage of which the insured is unaware.

⁷⁷Numerous cases have held that the pollution exclusion forecloses any duty of defense where the complaint against the insured does not allege discharges of contaminants which are "sudden and accidental." See, e.g., EAD Metalurigical, Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 905 F.2d 8 (2d Cir. 1990); Grant-Southern Iron & Metal Co. v. CNA Ins. Co., 669 F. Supp. 798 (E.D. Mich. 1986); Technicon Electronics Corp. v. American Home Assurance Co., 141 A.D.2d 124, 533 N.Y.S.2d 91 (App. Div. 2d Dept. 1988), aff'd, 74 N.Y. 2d 66, 544 N.Y.S.2d 531, 542 N.E. 2d 1048 (1989); United States Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Murray Ohio Mfg. Co., 693 F. Supp. 617 (M.D. Tenn. 1988), aff'd, 1989 U.S. App. LEXIS 4795, (6th Cir. Tenn. 1989); United States Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Korman Corp., 693 F. Supp. 253 (E.D. Pa. 1988); Covenant Ins. Co. v. Friday Engineering Inc., 742 F. Supp. 708 (D. Mass. 1990); United States Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Star Fire Coals Inc., 856 F.2d 31 (6th Cir. 1988); Great Lakes Container Corp. v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co., 727 F.2d 30 (1st Cir. 1984); Waste Management of Carolinas, Inc. v. Peerless Ins. Co., 340 S.E. 2d 374, 315 N.C. 688 (1986); <u>American Motorists Ins. Co. v. General</u> <u>Host Corp.</u>, 667 F. Supp. 1423 (D. Kan. 1987); <u>American Mut. Liab.</u> Ins. Co. v. Neville Chem. Co., 650 F. Supp. 929 (W.D. Pa. 1987).

In the present case, the Miami Wood Actions not only <u>failed</u> to allege a "sudden and accidental" release, they left no room for ambiguity by alleging the <u>opposite</u>, namely that the discharges took place gradually over many decades as part of Lone Star's regular wood treatment process. Thus, unless the complaints against Lone Star alleged releases which were "sudden and accidental" or resulted from underground seepage of which Lone Star was unaware, the pollution exclusion relieves Liberty Mutual of any duty to defend Lone Star.^{8/}

None of the allegations of the Miami Wood Actions bring these claims within the scope of the coverage provided by Liberty Mutual. The allegations against Lone Star of property damage caused by the discharge or release of contaminants are outside the scope of coverage defined by Liberty Mutual's policies. While the actual words "sudden and accidental" need not necessarily be alleged in the complaint, the complaint must allege facts which can be reasonably construed as stating a sudden and accidental discharge. There are no such facts alleged in the complaints in the Miami Wood Actions. Indeed, these complaints allege exactly the opposite -- ongoing, continuous and intentional releases of contamination over the course of decades. As a result, under Dimmitt II, Liberty Mutual has no duty to defend Lone Star and the decision of the Third DCA must be reversed.

^{8'}By its express terms, the exclusion applies to <u>releases</u> of pollution and not to the effects of the releases. <u>See</u>, <u>e.q.</u>, <u>Lumbermen's Mut. Cas. Co. v. Belleville Indus., Inc.</u>, 407 Mass. 675, 679 (1990) ("The sudden event to which the exception in the pollution exclusion applies concerns neither the cause of the release or the damage caused by the release. It is the release itself that must have occurred suddenly, if the exception [to the exclusion] is to apply so as to provide coverage").

A. The Miami Wood Actions Do Not Allege A Sudden and Accidental Release

To be entitled to a defense, Lone Star must show that the complaints against it alleged <u>both</u> sudden <u>and</u> accidental releases. In fact, none of the Miami Wood actions alleged <u>either</u> a sudden <u>or</u> an accidental release. For example, the <u>Clemente</u> complaint alleged, <u>inter alia</u>:

a. That the pollution was caused by Lone Star's
"throwing, draining, running" pollutants into the waters of Dade
County <u>(Clemente complaint, ¶11; App. 8);</u>

b. That Lone Star allowed contaminants "to seep" into the waters of Dade County (¶11; App. 8);

c. That the discharges of pollution "occurred ... and continued to occur and exist until the present time" (¶16 at p. 4-5; App. 9-10);

d. That the discharges of contaminants were committed by Lone Star "wantonly" and "willfully" (¶6 at p. 8; App. 13); and

e. That the defendants, including Lone Star, "knew" of the discharges of contaminants (¶6 at page 8; App. 13).

The other complaints against Lone Star also allege that the contamination was "knowingly" caused by Lone Star over the course of decades. All of these allegations are entirely inconsistent with releases or discharges which are "sudden and accidental" and, as such, are excluded from coverage.

1. There Are No Allegations of A "Sudden" Release

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