IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 80,899

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

Petitioner/Appellant

vs.

LONE STAR INDUSTRIES, INC.

Respondent/Appellee

On Review from the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida (Case No. 90-02498)

ANSWER BRIEF
OF
LONE STAR INDUSTRIES, INC.

R. HUGH LUMPKIN, ESQ.
LESLIE J. CECIL, ESQ.
Keith Mack Lewis Cohen & Lumpkin
First Union Financial Center
Suite 2000
200 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 358-7605

and

EUGENE R. ANDERSON, ESQ.
EDWARD TESSLER, ESQ.
Anderson, Kill, Olick & Oshinsky
666 Third Avenue
New York, New York 10017

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's Judgment, which holds that Liberty breached its duty to defend Lone Star in the Miami Wood actions must be affirmed. First, and foremost, the pollution exclusion contained in Lone Star's policies is not a standard-form pollution exclusion. In addition to the standard language, it contains an expansively worded exception to the operation of the exclusion for underground seepage, of which Lone Star was unaware. Allegations of underground seepage are contained in the Complaints in the Miami Wood actions. Dictionary definitions, as well as caselaw governing the broad duty to defend under Florida law, support the conclusion that Liberty breached its insurance policies when it withdrew its defense of Lone Star and denied coverage.

Second, Liberty is obligated to defend Lone Star, even if the underground seepage exception to the pollution exclusion is ignored. The first exception to the pollution exclusion, as interpreted by this Court in <u>Dimmitt</u>, provides coverage for the sudden and accidental releases, discharges or dispersals of pollutants. The complaints in the Miami Wood actions do not describe how or when the pollution allegedly caused by Lone Star occurred: a fact conceded by Liberty in a letter it wrote in July, 1983 to Lone Star. Thus, and since the duty to defend is broader than the duty to indemnify, Liberty has a contractual duty to defend Lone Star despite this Court's decision in <u>Dimmitt</u>.

Third, in order to be effective to bar coverage, the discharge or dispersal or release or escape of the pollutant must, under the

words used in the pollution exclusion, be into or upon land, the atmosphere or any watercourse or body of water. Since the underlying complaints in the Miami Wood actions allege dispersals of pollutants to groundwater, and, since groundwater is not land, atmosphere, a watercourse or body of water, the pollution exclusion does not relieve Liberty of its duty to defend. Lone Star's interpretation is supported by numerous cases, as well as dictionary definitions.

Last, and consistent with the decision of the Supreme Court of New Jersey in Morton International, Inc. v. General Accident Ins. Co. of America, 629 A.2d 831 (N.J. 1993), cert. denied, ___ US ___, 114 S.Ct. 2764, 62 U.S.L.W. 3857 (June 27, 1994), Liberty is estopped from interpreting the pollution exclusion in a manner which is inconsistent with the promises and representations made by it to the Insurance Commissioner of the State of Florida. The estoppel recognized by the Supreme Court of New Jersey in Morton, is wholly consistent with principles of Florida law, including this Court's decision in Crown Life Ins. Co. v. McBride, 517 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 1987). Simply put, promissory estoppel should be applied so as to hold Liberty to the promises of coverage that it made in 1970, so as to obtain use of the pollution exclusion in Florida without a concomitant rate decrease.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT HOLDING THAT LIBERTY MUST DEFEND LONE STAR IN THE MIAMI WOOD ACTIONS MUST BE AFFIRMED.

The trial court's Judgment holding that Liberty breached its duty to defend Lone Star in the Miami Wood actions must be affirmed notwithstanding this Court's decision in Dimmitt, inter alia because of two critical and undisputed distinctions between this case and Dimmitt: The pollution exclusion contained in the policies at bar is worded differently, because it expressly does not apply to underground seepage, of which the insured is unaware; and, this case arises on appeal solely as to the duty to defend, and not the more narrow duty to indemnify. Furthermore, the correct interpretation of the pollution exclusion, narrowly construed as it must be under principles of Florida law, reveals that the exclusion is not applicable to claims for groundwater contamination, such as those alleged in the Miami Wood actions. Since groundwater is not a watercourse or body of water -the language used in the exclusion the exclusion would have to be rewritten so as to expand its scope beyond the plain meaning of the words used.

The Scope Of This Court's Review

Liberty contends that the proceedings before this Court "are limited solely to the question of whether the Third District's decision conflicts with <u>Dimmitt II</u>." Liberty Brief at 4. Liberty is incorrect. As this Court has previously stated,

It is usual that when this Court assumes jurisdiction of a cause because of conflict in decisions, the Court will go further and determine the merits.

<u>D'Agostino v. State</u>, 310 So. 2d 12 (Fla. 1975). <u>See also Kelly v. Scussel</u>, 167 So. 2d 870, 872 (Fla. 1964); <u>Tyus v. Apalachicola N. R.R. Co.</u>, 130 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 1961). Accordingly, this Brief will not limit itself to the singularly narrow issue raised by Liberty in rhetorical terms in its Brief, but will comprehensively address the merits of the case to prove that the Third District reached the correct result, albeit for the wrong reason.

A. The Judgment Appealed Must Be Affirmed,
Notwithstanding This Court's Decision In Dimmitt,
Because Liberty's Policies Provide Coverage For
Releases Or Dispersals Or Escapes Or Discharges Of
Pollutants Resulting From An Underground Seepage Of
Which Lone Star Was Unaware

If there was underground seepage, and LONE STAR was not aware of it, why isn't LIBERTY paying LONE STAR's claim where the policy provides coverage for underground seepage of which the insured is unaware?

Paragraph 24 of Lone Star's Statement of Material Issues of Fact Which are in Dispute, submitted in opposition to Liberty's Motion for Summary Judgment in the trial court. (S.R. 30).

Liberty's pollution exclusion is different from the pollution exclusion construed by this Court in <u>Dimmitt</u>, because it contains an additional exception to the standard-form language for discharges or dispersals or releases or escapes which "results from an underground seepage of which [Lone Star] is unaware." (S.R. 1). There is no dispute that the underlying actions allege underground seepage. Liberty handily admits this at page 13 of its Brief, wherein it notes that the Clemente Complaint alleges, "that Lone Star allowed

contaminants 'to seep' into the waters of Dade County (Paragraph 11; App. 8)."12

The terms "underground seepage" and "unaware" are not defined, and under Florida law must be interpreted according to their common everyday usage. Security Ins. Co. of Hartford v. Commercial Credit Equip. Corp., 399 So. 2d 31, 34 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Florida courts commonly adopt the plain meaning of words as defined in non-legal dictionaries. See, e.g., Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Novak, 453 So. 2d 1116, 1118 (Fla. 1984). Websters New Universal Dictionary of the English Language at pages 1993, 1643, and 1989 (1976) defines the key words in this exception to the pollution exclusion as follows:

Underground: Beneath the surface of the earth.

<u>Seepage</u>: The act or process of seeping; and oozing; also, the liquid that seeps. (as a verb, the word seep is defined so as to include "to flow through pores; to ooze gently.")

<u>Unaware</u>: Without thought; inattentive; heedless.

Application of these definitions to the exception proves that Lone Star is, at minimum, entitled to a defense. The Complaints in the Miami Wood actions, Liberty's internal memoranda, and the various environmental studies performed at the site, reflect the existence of underground contamination of the earth as well as groundwater

Since it is beyond cavil that the pollution exclusion in Lone Star's policies does not apply to underground seepage, and because expressly, or by fair implication, allegations of underground seepage are pled in all of the underlying Complaints, Liberty and the IELA attempt to bury the issue. For example, the IELA claims, incongruously, that the underground seepage exception "is not at issue in this case." IELA Brief at 5, n.5. Liberty devotes an entire page and a half at the tail end of its Brief to the underground seepage argument Lone Star has raised throughout this case and on appeal. Liberty Brief at 17, 18.

contamination. (LS App. 5). This contamination could only have resulted from seepage beneath the surface of the earth. The Complaints in the Miami Wood actions do not allege that Lone Star was aware of the underground seepage of CCA or creosote - a chemical never used by Lone Star in its operations. (S.R. 33).

So as to avoid these arguments, Liberty attempts to argue that underground seepage must relate to the original release. Liberty Brief at 17. Yet, the pollution exclusion includes an exception for "dispersal" which results from underground seepage. Dispersal may arise from the initial release of a contaminant or its migration. See Farm Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bagley, 409 N.Y.S.2d 294 (N.Y. App. Div. 1978) (stating that "'[d]ischarge' clearly refers to the original release of the toxic chemicals. . . . However, the word 'dispersal' may refer to the original release or it may to a secondary dissemination after the original release."). Moreover, given the manner in which Liberty chose to draft this language, and since the policy uses the word "or", if the discharge or the dispersal or the release or the escape can result from an underground seepage, it is not included within the narrow scope of the pollution exclusion. 13

Aside from contradicting the language of the policy itself, Liberty's argument violates a rule of construction that Liberty and the IELA itself relies upon in this case. In its Brief at pg. 13, the IELA states, "principles of contract construction requir[e] that each word in a contract be given effect wherever possible". By eliminating the words discharge, dispersal or escape from the pollution exclusion, Liberty violates that rule of construction. See Midwest Mut. Ins. Co. v. Santiesteban, 287 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 1973); United States Fire Ins. Co. v. Morejon, 338 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

Liberty's game plan is clear. Since the Complaints against Lone Star allege at least that the dispersal of the contaminants "results from an underground seepage", Liberty attempts to rewrite the policy language. However, as the IELA confesses at page 38 of its Brief:

In the long run, public policy is best served by adhering to time-tested principles of insurance contract interpretation. These fundamental public policy considerations reinforce what Florida law requires: an insurance policy, like any other contract, must be construed according to its clear language and not distorted

Liberty's effort to rewrite the underground seepage language so as to narrow its scope, is thwarted by its own admissions, and by the principles of Florida law described above. The Judgment appealed must be affirmed.

Liberty's argument further ignores its own internal documents.

The insured has a pollution exclusion on their policy which contains an extra clause that says in part that the release or escape of pollutants must be sudden and accidental or result "from an underground seepage of which the insured is unaware."

I reviewed the underwriting folder and was fortunate in finding some old correspondence related to the original writing of this coverage. There are references to the insured wanting pollution coverage. We were attempting to duplicate the coverages provided by the prior carrier and they had provided some form of pollution coverage. In the end, we offered this modified endorsement in lieu of blanket coverage.

Liberty's "current underwriter" then concedes, that while the "most common" application for the clause would relate to a leak from an underground storage tank, there must be other, "uncommon" applications of the underground seepage language. (LS App. 5).

B. <u>Liberty Is Still Obligated To Defend Lone Star, Even If The Underground Seepage Exception To The Pollution Exclusion Is Ignored</u>

Liberty is still obligated to defend Lone Star, and the Judgment appealed must be affirmed, even if the broad underground seepage exception to the pollution exclusion is ignored. Unlike <u>Dimmitt</u>, the issue before this Court is an insurance company's duty to defend its policyholder. Since the Complaints in the Miami Wood actions cannot foreclose the possibility that the discharges or dispersals or releases or escapes of the pollutants were sudden and accidental, as Liberty concedes in its July 5, 1983 letter to Lone Star (LS App. 3), a duty to defend exists despite the "true facts", which might have been disclosed had Liberty conducted an investigation. 15 (S.R. 26).

An insurance company's duty to defend is distinct from, and broader than, the duty to indemnify the policyholder. Marr Investments, Inc. v. Greco, 621 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); Morgan Int'l Realty, Inc. v. Dade Underwriters Ins. Agency, Inc., 617 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Giordano, 485 So. 2d 453, 456 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Baron Oil Co. v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 470 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Liberty's duty to defend is determined entirely from the allegations of the underlying Complaints in the Miami Wood actions, and from no other source.

This important letter is quoted in relevant part at page 11 of this Brief, and is separately bound in Lone Star's Appendix to this Brief at LS App. 3.

The duty of an insurer to defend is determined **solely** by the allegations of the complaint against the insured, not by the actual facts, nor the insured's version of the facts or the insured's defenses.

Marr, 621 So. 2d at 449 (quoting Reliance Ins. Co. v. Royal Motorcar Corp., 534 So. 2d 922, 923 [Fla. 4th DCA 1988], rev. denied, 544 So. 2d 200 [Fla. 1989]); Baron, 490 So. 2d at 814; Kings Point West, Inc. v. North River Ins. Co., 412 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); See also Trizec Properties, Inc. v. Biltmore Constr. Co., 767 F.2d 810 (11th Cir. 1985) (holding that the insurer has a duty to defend if the complaint alleges facts within the policy coverage even if later facts demonstrate that there is no coverage); Tampa Elec. Co. v. Stone & Webster Eng'g Corp., 367 F. Supp. 27 (M.D. Fla. 1973) (holding that the duty to defend is determined when the action is brought, not when it is reduced to judgment). 16 The insurance company must defend its policyholder if the allegations in the Complaint may potentially be covered by the insurance policy. Morgan, 617 So. 2d at 458; Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 610 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. Liberty must defend the entire suit even if the 1st DCA 1992). complaint alleges facts partially within and partially without the coverage of the policy. Id. at 1307. Indeed, Liberty must defend

Liberty has previously argued that it is entitled to rely on its non-existent investigation and upon two cases, Capoferri v. Allstate Ins. Co., 322 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975) and Consolidated Mut. Ins. Co. v. Ivy Liquors, Inc., 185 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966), to relieve it of its defense obligation. (R. 20). As the cases cited above demonstrate, the fruits of Liberty's phantom investigation are irrelevant to the duty to defend. Furthermore, Capoferri and Consolidated simply stand for the proposition that where the complaint against the policyholder contains no allegations possibly within coverage, no duty to defend exists. In this case, Liberty has conceded in its July 5, 1983 letter that the facts are otherwise. (LS App. 3).

the action even if the true facts later show that there is no coverage. <u>Grissom</u>, 610 So. 2d at 1307. Any doubt about whether Liberty has a duty to defend must be resolved in favor of Lone Star. <u>Id.</u> at 1304; <u>Marr</u>, 621 So. 2d at 449.

The allegations against Lone Star in the Complaints in the Miami Wood actions reflect a potential for coverage under Liberty's policies, even under the sudden and accidental exception to the pollution exclusion construed by this Court in <u>Dimmitt</u>, 636 So. 2d at 701. While Liberty argues that the narrow construction of the pollution exclusion adopted by this Court in <u>Dimmitt</u> forecloses even a duty to defend, cases from other jurisdictions which have adopted

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